
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

WEST PALM BEACH 
9:16-cv-81623-RLR 

 
LORETTA PARISH-CARTER 
 
    Plaintiff,    
 
v.         
        
ROBERT AVOSSA, et al.,  
 

  Defendants. 
_________________________________________________ / 

 
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND 

 INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW 
 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), 12(e), and 12(f), ROBERT 

AVOSSA, CHERYL MCKEEVER, and THE SCHOOL BOARD of PALM BEACH COUNTY 

(“Defendants”), by and through the undersigned attorney, moves this Honorable Court to enter 

an order dismissing the Complaint.   In support of this motion, the Defendants would state as 

follows:  

BACKGROUND 

On September 22, 2016, Plaintiff filed a nine (9) count Complaint with this Court against 

Defendants on the basis of alleged violations of 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1985, 1986, and 1988, the 

Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and the Age 

Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA). On January 5, 2017, the Court granted Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss the Complaint in its entirety (some claims were dismissed with prejudice 

while others were dismissed without prejudice) (D.E. #25).  The Court’s Paperless Order [D.E. 
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#25] required the parties to confer prior to Plaintiff filing her Amended Complaint.1  Id.  On 

January 17, 2017, Plaintiff filed her Amended Complaint [D.E. #30].  The Amended Complaint 

consists of seven (7) counts against Defendants on the basis of alleged violations of 42 U.S.C. § 

1983, Fourteenth Amendment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination 

in Employment Act (ADEA), and two new claims – a discrimination claim under 42 U.S.C. § 

1981 and a state retaliation claim under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992.  The Amended 

Complaint alleges that Plaintiff (Black and over 40) is a current employee of Defendant School 

Board where she is employed as a school teacher at Palm Beach Lakes Community High School 

in Palm Beach County. Complaint at ¶15.  The Amended Complaint further states that 

“Defendants Avossa, McKeever, and the Board were acting under color of law and under color 

of authority as the Palm Beach County School Board Superintendent and the Palm Beach County 

School Board, employees, and agents or servants of Palm Beach County, Florida and as an 

Agency of the State of Florida.” Id. at ¶ 54.      

ARGUMENT 

A. Standard for a Motion to Dismiss. 

A motion to dismiss “will be granted where it is clear that no relief could be granted 

under any set of facts that could be proven consistent with the allegations.”  Canon v. Clark, 883 

F.Supp. 718, 720 (S.D. Fla. 1995).  Dismissal is justified “‘when the allegation of the complaint 

                                                 
1 It is important to note that Plaintiff sent an email to Defense Counsel on January 17, 2017 at 11:02 a.m. (the date 
the amended pleading was due to be filed) providing for the first time a copy of the Amended Complaint.  See 
Exhibit 1, Plaintiff’s Counsel’s email.  Shortly thereafter, at approximately 11:40 a.m., Plaintiff filed her First 
Amended Complaint [D.E. # 30].  See Exhibit 2, Email Service Receipt.  Accordingly, while Defendants would 
have preferred to confer with Plaintiff’s counsel to streamline the issues prior to the filing of the Complaint, Plaintiff 
provided Defendants no meaningful opportunity to do so in this instance.    
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clearly demonstrates that plaintiff does not have a claim.’” Id. (quoting 5A Charles Alan Wright 

& Arthur B. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure §1357 (1995)).   

In assessing the sufficiency of a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court may consider 

both “the face of the complaint and the attachments thereto.”  Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue 

Shield of Fla., Inc., 116 F.3d 1364, 1368 (11th Cir. 1997).  Although well-pleaded factual 

allegations should be taken as true, [c]onclusory allegations and unwarranted deductions of fact” 

should not.  Associate Builders, Inc. v. Alabama Power Company, 505 F.2d 97, 100 (5th Cir. 

1974).   

B. Plaintiff Has Again Failed to Comply with General Pleading Requirements and   
Therefore Her Claims Should Be Dismissed for Failure to State a Cause of Action  

Plaintiff’s Complaint is the type of shotgun pleading style that this, and other federal 

courts, routinely dismiss.  See Anderson v. District Bd. of Trustees of Central Fla. Community 

College, 77 F. 3d 364 (11th Cir. 1996); Paylor v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 748 F.3d 1117, 1125-27 

(11rh Cir. 2014); Taft v. Dade County Bar Assoc., Inc., 2015 WL 5771811, *2 (S.D. Fla., 

October 2, 2015); Adler v. WestJet Airlines, Ltd., 31 F. Supp. 3d 1381 (S.D. Fla. 2014); Palmer 

v. Shinseki, No. 8:13-CV-01784-T-EAK, 2014 WL 3720427, at *3 (M.D. Fla. July 25, 2014).  In 

her Complaint, Plaintiff “incorporates and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 50”2 as the factual 

basis for each of her seven (7) claims, regardless of whether the facts are relevant to the 

particular count(s) or claim.3  Defendants are left with having to go back to the factual 

allegations and guess as to which allegations support Plaintiff’s seven individual claims. This 

“shotgun” practice has been found to be improper because it makes it virtually impossible for the 
                                                 
2 While Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-50 into each count, it should be noted that Plaintiff’s factual allegations 
appear to extend to paragraphs 54.   
3 Paragraphs 1-14 of the Complaint include sections entitled “Introduction,” “Jurisdiction and Venue,” “Parties” and 
“Conditions Precedent.”  Plaintiff’s “Factual Allegations” are covered in Paragraphs 15-54.   
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School Board and other named Defendants to know which allegations of facts are intended to 

support which claim(s) for relief.  Taft, 2015 WL 5771811, *2.  Indeed, this Court dismissed 

Plaintiff’s Initial Complaint, in part, due to the Plaintiff’s improper shotgun approach in 

pleading.  “Experience teaches that, unless cases are pled clearly and precisely, issues are not 

joined, discovery is not controlled, the trial court’s docket becomes unmanageable, the litigants 

suffer, and society loses confidence in the court’s ability to administer justice.”  Anderson, 77 

F.3d at 366.  For this alone, Plaintiff Amended Complaint should be dismissed. 

Additionally, Plaintiff again has failed to cure the prior deficiency of merely setting forth 

the elements of each claim, with conclusory statements, without any of the factual support 

necessary to state a claim for relief.  It is well established that a plaintiff's obligation to provide 

the grounds for entitlement to relief requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic 

recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.  See Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 

U.S. 544, 555 (2007).  The factual allegations in this Amended Complaint must also be enough 

to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.  Id.  Plaintiff’s inclusion of Paragraphs 1-50 

into each individual Count should not cure this pleading deficiency because it improperly 

increases the burden of the Defendants to speculate to the factual allegations underlying each 

count.   

The Defendants should not have to sift through 54 paragraphs of facts to try to figure out 

the basis for her claims.  The Defendants are entitled to adequate notice of the claims against 

them and the grounds upon which each claim rests.  Plaintiff’s Complaint fails to do so, and 

therefore her Amended Complaint should be dismissed.   
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C. Plaintiff Has Failed to Cure the Deficiencies Previously Noted in Her Section 1983 
Claim (Count I) Against the School Board, and therefore, Such Claim Should Again 
Be Dismissed 
 
Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint still fails to establish a prima facie case under Section 

1983 because Plaintiff has not alleged a custom and policy by Defendant School Board as is 

necessary to establish municipal liability for a violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights.  “[F]or 

purposes of Section 1983 an act could not be attributed to a municipality merely because it was 

an act of a municipal agent performed in the course of exercising a power delegated to the 

municipality by local law, and we reasoned instead that ‘it is [only] when execution of a 

government’s policy or custom, whether made by lawmakers or by those whose edicts or acts 

may fairly be said to represent official policy, inflicts the injury that the government as an entity 

is responsible under §1983.’” Board of Cnty Com’rs of Bryan Cnty., Okl. v. Brown, 520 U.S. 

397, 417 (1997), citing Monell v. Dept of Social Services of the City of New York, 436 U.S. 658 

(1978).   

A school board can only be held liable if it “had a policy, custom, or practice that caused 

the deprivation.” Hoefling v. City of Miami, 811 F.3d 1271, 1279 (11th Cir. 2016). Moreover, 

conclusory or “naked allegations” are insufficient. Id at 1281.  A plaintiff must allege facts in 

support of a liability theory “that is plausible on its face.” Id. (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed. 2d 929 (2007)). In reaching its decision 

in Hoefland, for example, the Eleventh Circuit compared those factual allegations of municipal 

liability to allegations that were found insufficient in an earlier case, Weiland v. Palm Beach 

Cnty. Sheriff's Office, 792 F.3d 1313, 1328-30 (11th Cir. 2015) (complaint broadly alleged that 

the Sheriff's Office had a policy or custom of not adequately training its officers and of covering 
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up officer misconduct, but Eleventh Circuit concluded that the alleged “policy” was a mere 

naked assertion). 

Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is very similar to the Weiland and Hoefland cases. Her 

Amended Complaint contains no factual allegation of the School Board's intent, and while terms 

like “official policy or custom” are sprinkled throughout the Amended Complaint, it is merely a 

virtual parroting of the legal standard. It provides no factual basis from which the Court can 

plausibly infer that the standard, under any theory, has been met.  Plaintiff’s allegations of 

municipal liability are like the conclusory, naked allegations the Eleventh Circuit rejected in 

Weiland. This Court should likewise reject them here. Here, Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is 

devoid of any facts regarding Defendant's customs or policies that would create potential liability 

under Section 1983. Plaintiff’s failure to plead facts in support of a custom or policy renders the 

Complaint defective as a matter of law and requires dismissal for failure to state a claim. 

D. Plaintiff Section 1981/Section 1983 Claim (Count II) Against Defendants Avossa and 
McKeever Are Barred by the Doctrine of Qualified Immunity  
 

           Qualified immunity offers complete protection for individual government officials 

performing discretionary functions “insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established 

statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.” Harlow v. 

Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982).  “Qualified immunity balances two important interests-the 

need to hold public officials accountable when they exercise power irresponsibly and the need to 

shield officials from harassment, distraction, and liability when they perform their duties 

reasonably.” Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 129 (2009). In Saucier v. Katz, the Supreme 

Court mandated a two-step analysis for resolving qualified immunity claims. Saucier v. 

Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001). First, a court must decide whether the facts that a plaintiff has 
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alleged “show the [defendant's] conduct violated a constitutional right.” Id. Second, the court 

must decide “whether the right was clearly established.” 

              To determine whether a governmental official is entitled to the defense of qualified 

immunity, the defendants must first prove that they were acting within the scope of their 

employment and exercising their discretionary authority when the alleged violations occurred. 

See Williams v. City of Albany, 936 F.2d 1256, 1259 (11th Cir. 1991). Once this burden is met, 

the burden then shifts to the plaintiff to establish that the defendant official "violated clearly 

established constitutional law." Id. 

            In the instant case, Plaintiff concedes that Defendants Avossa and McKeever were at all 

times “acting in his capacity as Superintendent,” “acting in her capacity as Head Principal,” and 

“acting under the color of law within the meaning of §1983.” Amended Complaint at ¶¶54, 69, 

70, 76.  In paragraphs 71-79, Plaintiff arrives at the conclusion that Defendants Avossa and 

McKeever engaged in discrimination based on “race and/or color and sex, and age” without 

providing any factual basis for these conclusions.4  For instance, Plaintiff alleges "Defendants 

Avossa and McKeever, both individually discriminated against the Plaintiff because of her age 

and race/skin colour [sic], in a manner that deprived the Plaintiff of her Constitutional Rights to 

be free from discrimination by taking her property interest in her employment by demoting her 

from her position without notice…” Amended Complaint ¶71.  However, Plaintiff provides no 

                                                 
4 Section 1981 protects against racial discrimination. The statute is a “prohibition against racial 
discrimination in the making and enforcement of contracts” and in the conduct of the contractual 
relationship. Acquisto v. Secure Horizons ex rel. United Healthcare Ins. Co., No. 2:08-CV-847-
FTM-29, 2011 WL 6780870, at *9 (M.D. Fla. Dec. 27, 2011) citing Rivers v. Roadway Express, 
Inc., 511 U.S. 298, 302 (1994).  All other protected classifications raised by Plaintiff under 
Section 1981 should be stricken.   
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additional facts relating to how she was discriminated against because of these protected 

classifications by either of these two Defendants.  Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is specifically 

devoid of any facts relating to how Defendant Avossa allegedly wronged her.  The Amended 

Complaint merely makes blanket statements that “Defendant Avossa and Defendant McKeever 

purposefully and intentionally created and subjected the Plaintiff to disparate treatment because 

of her race and/or color and sex, and age in violation of § 1981.”  Again, nowhere in the 

Amended Complaint are there any factual allegations supporting this conclusion. 

              Such unsupported and conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet Plaintiff's burden 

of establishing that Defendants’ alleged actions violated clearly established constitutional law.  

As a result, Plaintiff's claims under § 1981 should be dismissed as the defense of qualified 

immunity bars the action. 

E. Plaintiff’s Section 1981 and Title VII Race Discrimination Claims (Counts II and III) 
and ADEA Age Claim (Counts IV) Against Defendant School District (Board) Should 
Be Dismissed for Failure to State a Claim 
 
Courts have consistently held that the elements of a prima facie case and the analytical 

framework for employment discrimination claims made under Title VII, the Florida Civil Rights 

Act, § 1981, and the ADEA, which are set forth below, are the same. E.g.,Crawford v. 

Carroll, 529 F.3d 961, 970 (11th Cir.2008); Harper v. Blockbuster Entm't Corp., 139 F.3d 1385, 

1387 (11th Cir.1998); Telfair v. Federal Exp. Corp., 934 F.Supp.2d 1368, 1373 n. 1 

(S.D.Fla.2013). To this end, Plaintiff’s Complaint is lacking factual allegations to support a 

prima facie case for race discrimination (Counts II and III) and/or age discrimination (Count IV) 

under the ADEA.  Instead, Plaintiff relies solely on conclusory statements, which cannot form 

the basis of race and age discrimination claims without some factual detail to support it.  

Case 9:16-cv-81623-RLR   Document 31   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/31/2017   Page 8 of 21

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1981&originatingDoc=I4715f02511ff11e490d4edf60ce7d742&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2016225211&pubNum=506&originatingDoc=I4715f02511ff11e490d4edf60ce7d742&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_970&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_970
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2016225211&pubNum=506&originatingDoc=I4715f02511ff11e490d4edf60ce7d742&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_970&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_970
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998098959&pubNum=506&originatingDoc=I4715f02511ff11e490d4edf60ce7d742&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_1387&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_1387
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998098959&pubNum=506&originatingDoc=I4715f02511ff11e490d4edf60ce7d742&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_1387&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_1387
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2030259967&pubNum=4637&originatingDoc=I4715f02511ff11e490d4edf60ce7d742&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4637_1373&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4637_1373
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2030259967&pubNum=4637&originatingDoc=I4715f02511ff11e490d4edf60ce7d742&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4637_1373&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4637_1373


Motion to Dismiss First Amended Complaint and Incorporated Memorandum of Law 
Loretta Parish-Carter v. Robert Avossa, et. al.  
Case No. 9:16-cv-81623-RLR 
 
Page 9 
 
Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (“Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of 

action … do not suffice.”); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).  A plaintiff 

“cannot merely invoke her gender, race and/or national origin in the course of a claim narrative 

and automatically be entitled to pursue relief.  Rather, [plaintiff] must allege some facts 

demonstrating that gender, race and/or national origin was the reason for Defendant’s actions.”  

Uppal v. Hosp. Corp. of America, 2011 WL 2631869, *4 (M.D. Fla, July 5, 2011) (dismissal 

upheld of national origin complaint for failure to state a claim), affirmed 482 Fed. Appx. 394, 

396 (11th Cir. 2012).  

To survive a motion to dismiss on a discrimination claim, a plaintiff must allege facts 

sufficient to state a prima facie case by demonstrating that (1) she was a member of a protected 

class; (2) she was qualified for the job; (3) she suffered an adverse employment action; and (4) a 

similarly situated individual outsider her protected class was treated more favorably.  Maynard v. 

Bd. of Regents of Div. of Univ. of Fla. Dep't of Educ., 342 F.3d 1281, 1289 (11th Cir. 2003); 

Castillo v. Allegro Resort Mktg., 603 F. App'x 913, 917 (11th Cir. 2015).  Although Plaintiff in 

the instant case alleged she is a black female over the age of 40 and was allegedly subjected to 

adverse employment actions, she has failed to set forth any facts or the identity of similarly 

situated employees outside her protected class who were treated more favorably, as required. 

Maynard v. Bd. of Regents of Div. of Univ. of Fla. Dep't of Educ., 342 F.3d 1281, 1289 (11th Cir. 

2003); Ansley v. Fla. Dep’t of Revenue, 2009 WL 1973548, at *2 N.D. Fla., July 8, 2009) 

(Plaintiff did not “allege a factual basis for the conclusion that the others who were treated better 

were similarly situated….These allegations might have survived a motion to dismiss prior to 

Twombly and Iqbal.  But now they do not.”); Gadling-Cole v. Lagory, No. 2:12-CV-2882-SLB, 
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2015 WL 1268018, at *3 (N.D. Ala. Mar. 19, 2015) ( “Plaintiff's bare statement that ‘other 

employees’ received more favorable treatment is the type of conclusory allegation that 

‘epitomizes speculation and therefore does not amount to a short and plain statement of [her] 

claim under Rule 8(a)’”).  Specifically, to make a comparison of plaintiff's treatment to that of an 

employee outside the protected class, a plaintiff must show that she and the other employee are 

similarly situated “in all relevant respects.” Wilson v. B/E Aerospace, Inc., 376 F.3d 1079, 1091 

(11th Cir. 2004).  Plaintiff has failed to meet the minimum pleading requirement because she has 

not alleged any facts that she was treated less favorably than other employees outside her 

protected class other than the conclusory statements in her factual allegations that her position 

had been taken from her and given to a White Woman and White Man, both of whom “had fewer 

credentials, less experience, and fewer years of service than Plaintiff” and “Plaintiff was treated 

differently than other similarly situation employees.”  Complaint at ¶¶ 26 and 27, respectively.   

The fact that Plaintiff was allegedly replaced by someone outside of her protected class is 

not the proper analysis.  O'Connor v. Consol. Coin Caterers Corp., 517 U.S. 308, 116 S. Ct. 

1307, 134 L. Ed. 2d 433 (U.S. 1996) (Justice Scalia held that fact that ADEA plaintiff was 

replaced by someone outside protected class is not a proper element of McDonnell Douglas 

prima facie case).  Moreover, just because someone has fewer years of service or less experience 

doesn’t mean that individual is outside of the protected class.  Plaintiff’s generalizations have 

made it impossible for Defendants to adequately respond to her claims and absent such facts, her 

claims must fail.   

While Plaintiff is correct that she is not required to allege facts in the Amended 

Complaint sufficient to make out a prima facie discrimination case, she must still “provide 
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‘enough factual matter (taken as true) to suggest’ intentional race discrimination” and to raise her 

claim above speculation. Davis v. Coca–Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated, 516 F.3d 955, 974 

(11th Cir.2008) (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556). In disregarding the legal conclusions and 

considering only the factual allegations set out in the Amended Complaint, it is clear that 

plaintiff's cause of action fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. 

Plaintiff's claim for race and age discrimination under Title VII, § 1981, and the 

ADEA fails because the limited facts plaintiff provides in the Amended Complaint do not create 

any inference that defendant engaged in discriminatory conduct.  Plaintiff does not name a single 

person other than herself who allegedly was discriminated against. She does not point to any 

School Board policy or procedure that is racially discriminatory. Neither does she cite any 

School Board procedure that has a disparate impact on African–Americans. Plaintiff, in fact, 

makes no references about age other than her own age.  Plaintiff has simply not raised her claim 

above speculation and has not stated a claim for relief under Rule 8(a)(2). 

  Finally, Plaintiff also identifies the individual Defendant involved in allegedly harassing 

and intimidating her and taking her position away, Defendant Cheryl McKeever, as a Black 

woman in her mid-50s, which undermines her claim that Defendants discriminated against her on 

the basis of race and age. See Plaintiff’s Charge of Discrimination attached to Amended 

Complaint [D.E. #30-2].  It is a well-settled, albeit not dispositive, principle that where the 

alleged discriminator is a member of the same protected class as the plaintiff, an inference 

against discrimination exists and claims of discrimination become less plausible. See Elrod v. 

Sears, Roebuck & Co., 939 F.2d 1466, 1471 (11th Cir. 1991) (inference against discriminatory 

intent when all decision-makers are in protected class); Meyer v. State of N.Y. Office of Mental 
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Health, No. 12-CV-6202, 2016 WL 1228603, at *11 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2016)  discrimination 

become less plausible.” (collecting cases)); Allen v. Chanel, Inc., No. 12-CV-6758, 2015 WL 

3938096, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. June 26, 2015) (noting that “when the decision-maker is in the same 

protected class(es) as the plaintiff-employee, courts can draw inferences against discriminatory 

intent,” and granting summary judgment on sex discrimination claim because the decision 

makers at issue were “all female” just like plaintiff); Palak v. St. Francis Hosp., No. 14-CV-

4383, 2015 WL 3682805, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. June 12, 2015) (stating that it “provides an additional 

inference against discrimination ... where the person who participated in the allegedly adverse 

decision is also a member of the same protected class” (collecting cases)); Baguer v. Spanish 

Broad. Sys., Inc., No. 04-CV-8393, 2010 WL 2813632, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. July 12, 2010) (“Courts 

draw an inference against discrimination where the person taking the adverse action is in the 

same protected class as the effected employee.”), aff'd, 423 Fed.Appx. 102 (2d Cir. 2011). 

F. Plaintiff’s Title VII and Florida Civil Rights Act Retaliation Claims (Counts V and 
VII) Fail as a Matter of Law5 
 
Likewise, Plaintiff’s claim for retaliation under Title VII (Count V) and the FCRA 

(Count VII) are also subject to dismissal.  To survive a motion to dismiss on a retaliation claim 

under Title VII, Plaintiff must set forth sufficient factual content for the Court to draw the 

inference (1) that she engaged in a statutorily protected activity or expression, (2) that she 

                                                 
55 Count VII of the Amended Complaint, while titled “Retaliation” under the FCRA, makes reference to 
discriminatory practices against the Plaintiff based on age, sex, race or skin colour [SIC], and length of employment.  
See Amended Complaint ¶129.  To the extent Plaintiff is attempting to bring both a discrimination and retaliation 
action under the FCRA, Defendants move to dismiss any FCRA claims of discrimination for all of the same reasons 
noted in Section E above.  Defendants further note that any sex, skin color, or length of employment claims under 
the FCRA are due to be dismissed with prejudice because Plaintiff never raised any of those claims in her Charge of 
Discrimination.  See Charge of Discrimination [D.E. #30-2].  The court should also note that “length of 
employment” is not even a protected classification and Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is lacking in any facts 
relating to these newly added claims.    
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suffered a materially adverse employment action, and (3) that there was some causal relation 

between the two events. See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678; McCann v. Tillman, 526 F.3d 1375 (11th 

Cir. 2008).  Plaintiff has failed to satisfy this requirement because like her discrimination claims, 

Counts V and VII are based solely on conclusory statements.  Because of Plaintiff’s shotgun 

approach in pleading, she has alleged the same set of facts to establish both her discrimination 

claims and her retaliation claims, and doesn’t specify which facts support which claim.  This 

alone warrants dismissal of her retaliation claims.   

In addition, the first protected activity alleged by Plaintiff in her Amended Complaint is a 

filing of an internal complaint of discrimination and a letter she wrote to the School Board on 

November, 2015, which Plaintiff alleges occurred after the alleged demotion.  Amended 

Complaint at ¶¶ 29-31.  While Plaintiff’s sequence of events in her Amended Complaint is not 

clearly pled, paragraph 31 makes clear that the demotion occurred first, she complained after the 

alleged demotion, and that she was subsequently subjected to “retaliatory walk-throughs.” The 

protected activity, however, must precede the adverse employment action in order for the action 

to be considered retaliatory.”  Marks v. McDonald, 2015 WL 5758568, *2 (M.D. Fla, September 

29, 2015).     

Although Plaintiff does allege other instances of alleged adverse action, those other acts – 

comments made at an open meeting not directed at her, walk-throughs, and denial of a lateral 

transfer – are not adverse employment actions.  Plaintiff contends in her Amended Complaint 

that the number of walk-throughs was “unusual and out of the ordinary compared to other 

similarly situated teachers in the Math Department and in the school.”  Amended Complaint ¶ 

39.  Plaintiff, however, has only offered as a comparator uncertified teachers and substitute 
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teachers which would not be “similarly situated in all relevant respects.” Wilson v. B/E 

Aerospace, Inc., 376 F.3d 1079, 1091 (11th Cir. 2004).  Moreover, the Eleventh Circuit and this 

court has held that a denial of a purely lateral transfer is not an adverse employment action.  Doe. 

v. Dekalb County Sch. Dist., 145 F.3d 1441, 1449–51 (11th Cir.1998); Barnhart v. Wal-Mart 

Stores, Inc., 206 F. App'x 890, 892 (11th Cir. 2006) (finding that neither a lateral transfer not 

resulting in lesser pay, responsibilities, or prestige, nor the refusal to give an employee such a 

transfer, was adverse.); see also Spence v. Potter, No. 1:07-CV-00526, 2011 WL 249479, at *4 

(S.D. Ohio Jan. 26, 2011).  Indeed, none of Plaintiff’s allegations after her demotion and after 

her “protected activity” rise to the level of an adverse employment action sufficient to satisfy a 

retaliation action.  See Kavanaugh v. Miami-Dade Cty., 775 F. Supp. 2d 1361, 1369 (S.D. Fla. 

2011) (off-hand comments by sergeants, shift changes, verbal reprimands not adverse 

employment action). 

G. Plaintiff Fails to State a Claim for Substantive Due Process Violations Under Count VI 
Where, As Here, There Are Adequate State Remedies Available to Her 
 
As an initial issue, Count VI of Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint appears to be an attempt 

by Plaintiff to revive or “backdoor” her failed 42 U.S.C. § 1985 and § 1986 conspiracy claims 

which were previously dismissed by the Court with prejudice.  See Paperless Order [D.E. # 25]. 

To the extent Plaintiff is attempting to re-assert her conspiracy claims in the Amended 

Complaint, Count VI should be dismissed with prejudice and Defendants should be entitled to 

any reasonable fees incurred in responded to said claims.   

If Plaintiff is alleging a substantive due process claim under some other theory, Plaintiff 

has failed to sufficiently plead a constitutional violation.  The Eleventh Circuit en banc opinion 

in McKinney v. Pate makes clear that “in non-legislative cases, only procedural due process 
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claims are available to pretextually [impacted] employees.” 20 F.3d 1550, 1560 (11th Cir.1994); 

see also Canon v. Clark, 883 F. Supp. 718, 722 (S.D. Fla. 1995).  A public employee has a 

property interest in employment only if existing rules that stem from an independent source, such 

as a state law, create a legitimate claim of entitlement or expectation of continued employment.  

Board of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 577 -78 (1972). “To have a 

constitutionally protected property interest in continued employment, a non-tenured school 

district employee must have more than a unilateral expectation of it. She must instead have a 

legitimate claim of entitlement to it . . . Such an interest generally may be created by law or 

through some mutually explicit understanding between the parties.” Sullivan v. School Board of 

Pinellas County, 773 F.2d 1182, 1185 (11th Cir. 1985).   

While Plaintiff has provided a number of conclusory statements relating to an alleged 

demotion and/or transfer denial, Plaintiff has provided no state statute or contractual language 

upon which she relies. See McKinney v. Pate, 20 F.3d 1550 (11th Cir. 1994) (Terminated county 

employee was not deprived of due process where employee had adequate remedy in state 

system).  Plaintiff alleges in her Amended Complaint that the first time Defendants attempted to 

demote her, she successfully recouped her lost wages through Defendants’ grievance procedures.  

Amended Complaint ¶22.  It is worthy to note that Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is devoid of 

any claim that she challenged the alleged second demotion and transfer denial through 

Defendants’ grievance procedures which are the subjects of her Amended Complaint.   

Defendants are simply unable to determine the nature of the due process violations claimed by 

Plaintiff.    
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“[A]reas in which substantive rights are created only by state law (as is the case with tort 

law and employment law) are not subject to substantive due process protection under the Due 

Process Clause because 'substantive due process rights are created only by the 

Constitution.'” McKinney v. Pate, 20 F.3d 1550, 1556 (11th Cir. 1994) (quoting Regents of Univ. 

of Mich. v. Ewing, 474 U.S. 214, 229, 106 S. Ct. 507, 88 L.Ed. 2d 523 (1985) (Powell, J., 

concurring)). In fact, the Eleventh Circuit has repeatedly held that employment rights, like those 

at issue here, even if construed as property rights, are not created by the Constitution. See 

e.g., Laskar v. Peterson, 771 F.3d 1291, 1297 (11th Cir. 2014); Greenbriar Vill., L.L.C. v. 

Mountain Brook City, 345 F.3d 1258, 1262 (11th Cir. 2003); McKinney, 20 F.3d at 1556.  

It is well settled that public employees do not enjoy a substantive due process right in 

public employment. Sutton v. Cleveland Bd. of Educ., 958 F.2d 1339, 1351 (6th Cir.1992). The 

substantive component of the due process clause imposes certain limitations on governmental 

deprivations of life, liberty, or property, independent of the procedural limitations imposed on 

such deprivations by procedural due process. See Pearson v. City of Grand Blanc, 961 F.2d 

1211, 1216 (6th Cir.1992). “One aspect of substantive due process is the right to be free of 

‘arbitrary and capricious' action by government actors.” Bowers v. City of Flint, 325 F.3d 758, 

763 (6th Cir.2003) (quoting Pearson, 961 F.2d at 1217). The limitations of substantive due 

process apply both to the legislative actions of governments and the executive actions of 

governments. County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 846 (1998). However, the criteria 

for determining whether a government action is arbitrary in violation of substantive due process 

“differ depending on whether it is legislation or a specific act of a governmental officer that is at 

issue” Id. When an action by an executive government official is at issue, as in this case with the 
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actions of a School Superintendent or School Board, the action will be found to violate 

substantive due process “only when it ‘can properly be characterized as arbitrary, or conscious 

shocking, in a constitutional sense.’ ” Id. at 847, 118 S.Ct. 1708 (quoting Collins v. Harker 

Heights, 503 U.S. 115, 128, 112 S.Ct. 1061, 117 L.Ed.2d 261 (1992)). “[O]nly the most 

egregious official conduct” violates substantive due process under this standard. Id. at 846, 118 

S.Ct. 1708.  An alleged demotion and/or denial of a transfer is simply not the kind of executive 

action that would “shock” the conscious and Plaintiff’s substantive due process claim is due to 

be dismissed.   

To the extent Plaintiff is limited to a procedural due process action, a Section 

1983 procedural due process violation requires proof of three elements: (1) a deprivation of a 

constitutionally-protected liberty or property interest; (2) state action; and (3) constitutionally 

inadequate process.  Reams v. Irvin, 561 F.3d 1258, 1267 (11th Cir. 2009).  Even assuming 

Plaintiff’s alleged demotion and/or transfer denial was a deprivation of a constitutionally-

protected property interest, Plaintiff’s claims fail, in any event, because she received 

constitutionally adequate process as a matter of law. According to binding precedent, process 

cannot be inadequate when state remedies—to include judicial remedies—are available. See 

Reams, 561 F.3d at 1267; McKinney, 20 F.3d at 1565.  

Florida law permits judicial appeals, on procedural due process grounds, of school board 

employment actions. See generally Seiden v. Adams, 150 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 4th DCA 

2014); Schimenti v. School Bd. of Hernando Cnty., 73 So. 3d 831 (Fla. 5th DCA 2011). 

Procedural due process deprivation claims “will not be cognizable under [Section] 1983 if the 

state provides a means by which to remedy the alleged deprivation.” Foxy Lady, Inc. v. City of 
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Atlanta, 347 F.3d 1232, 1238 (11th Cir. 2003). Florida courts clearly do provide a means and, if 

appropriate, a remedy for the School Board's employment decision concerning Plaintiff's claims. 

Her recourse is to pursue those remedies there, not to file a 1983 claim in federal 

court. See McKinney, 20 F.3d at 1563. Counts VI should, therefore, be dismissed with prejudice.  

See also Cunningham v. Sch. Bd. of Lake Cty., No. 5:15-CV-480-OC-30PRL, 2016 WL 

1755612, at *8 (M.D. Fla. May 3, 2016). 

H. Punitive Damages Against Individual Defendants Should Be Stricken, as Well as, 
Plaintiff’s Claims for Compensatory Damages Under the ADEA. 

 
A plaintiff in a Title VII action may recover punitive damages for intentional 

discrimination when the complaining party demonstrates that the respondent engaged in 

discriminatory practices with malice or with reckless indifference to federally protected rights. 

Austrum v. Fed. Cleaning Contractors, Inc., 190 F. Supp. 3d 1132, 1134 (S.D. Fla. 2016) citing 

Ash v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 664 F.3d 883, 901 n.11 (11th Cir.2011). “Punitive damages are 

available in actions brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 not only where there was a malicious 

intent or evil motive, but also where the defendants acted with a ‘reckless or callous disregard of, 

or indifference to, the rights and safety of others.’ ” Bennis v. Gable, 823 F.2d 723, 734 (3d 

Cir.1987), citing Smith v. Wade, 461 U.S. 30 (1983); Ferrill v. Parker Grp., Inc., 168 F.3d 468, 

476 (11th Cir. 1999) (“Under § 1981, punitive damages may be awarded when the defendant's 

conduct is shown to be motivated by evil motive or intent, or when it involves reckless 

or callous indifference to the federally protected rights of others.” (quotation marks omitted)). 

Thus, in order to recover punitive damages plaintiff must show that defendants' “conduct 

amounts to something more than a bare violation justifying compensatory damages or injunctive 

relief.” Cochetti v. Desmond, 572 F.2d 102, 106 (3d Cir.1978).  
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Plaintiff has not pled sufficient facts to give rise to plausible claims for punitive damages. 

Plaintiff's bare-bones allegations do not support a claim of intentional discrimination let alone 

malice or reckless indifference to federally protected rights. Again, plaintiff has inadequately 

pled his discrimination claims and thus those claims do not give rise to claims for punitive 

damages. Plaintiff pleads no facts that would give rise to an inference of malice or reckless 

indifference with regard to the Superintendent or McKeever, but rather simply alleges that their 

actions were retaliatory. Plaintiff has not alleged any facts that would justify going beyond an 

award of compensatory damage. 

Additionally, punitive damages or compensatory damages are not available under the 

ADEA. Goldstein v. Manhattan Indus., Inc., 758 F.2d 1435, 1446 (11th Cir. 1985) 

(“[N]either punitive damages nor compensatory damages for pain and suffering are recoverable 

under the ADEA.”).  As there are no factual allegation that provide support for an argument that 

any of the named Defendants acted in any capacity other than their official capacity, there is no 

basis for a punitive damages award against Defendants Avossa and McKeever in their individual 

capacities. Plaintiff has made no factual allegations regarding any conduct of Defendants to 

support a claim that any of them acted with “malice or reckless indifference” as required to 

recover punitive damages against an individual defendant under 42 U.S.C. § 1981a (Title VII) or 

conduct that is shown to be “motivated by evil motive or intent” or “reckless or callous 

indifference” as required under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  Accordingly, Plaintiff’s claims for 

compensatory damages under the ADEA and punitive damages against the individual defendants 

are due to be stricken and dismissed. 

I. Attorney’s Fees and Costs 
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Defendants have incurred attorneys’ fees and costs in defending this action and request 

that those same fees be paid by the Plaintiff under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.  McGregor v. Bd. Of 

Comm’rs of Palm Beach County, 956 F.2d 1017, 1022 (11th Cir. 1992).   

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing argument and authority, Defendants 

respectfully requests the Court to enter an Order Dismissing the Amended Complaint and 

providing such other relief requested in this motion, including attorneys’ fees and costs.   

Respectfully Submitted By:  

/s/ Shawntoyia Bernard                ____ 
Shawntoyia Bernard, Esq. 
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